
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1) Call to Order – Chairman, Warden Russell Boucher  

2) Approval of Agenda  

3) Approval of September 20th, 2016 Committee of the Whole Minutes 

4) Business Arising from the Minutes 

5) Presentation & Approval of the Fringe & Lower South River Water Utility Budgets 

6) Approval of Application to Cost-Share Subdivision Street Improvements 

7) Presentation & Approval of the 2015/16 Audited Financial Statements 

8) Presentation & Approval of the 2015/2016 Financial Information Return 

9) Presentation & Approval of the 2016/17 Statement of Estimates 

10) Consideration of Tax Write-Offs 

11) Review of Committee Terms of Reference & Solicitation of Public Members  

12) First Nations - Municipal Community Economic Development Initiative Update 

13) Approval of Corporate Plan Request for Proposals 

14) West River Bank Erosion 

15) Contract Negotiations (In-Camera) 

16) Adjournment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE AGENDA 
Tuesday, November 1, 2016 @ 5:30 pm  

Municipal Administration Centre 



 
 

 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE AGENDA AND MEMO 
NOVEMBER 1ST, 2016 

TO: COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

FROM: GLENN HORNE, MUNICIPAL CLERK TREASURER  

SUBJECT: COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEMO  

DATE: NOVEMBER 1ST, 2016 
 

PRESENTATION & APPROVAL OF THE FRINGE & LOWER SOUTH RIVER WATER UTILITY BUDGETS 
(For Decision)  

Please find the proposed budget attached.  Director of Finance, Allison Duggan, will present the 
budget.  The Director of Public Works, Daryl Myers, will also be present to address any operational 
questions. 

APPROVAL OF APPLICATION TO COST-SHARE SUBDIVISION STREET IMPROVEMENTS (For Decision) 

Attached is a letter from Finance Director Allison Duggan requesting the Province of Nova Scotia 
consider cost-sharing for repaving of Heritage & Ponderosa Drive, per the Municipality’s 2015-16 
capital plan.  The application was due to the Province by October 31; it is presented for the 
committee’s approval. 

PRESENTATION & APPROVAL OF THE 2015/16 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (For Decision) 

The Audited Financial Statement will be circulated prior to the meeting.  The Municipal Auditor, 
Sonny MacDougall, will present the audit to the Committee. 

PRESENTATION & APPROVAL OF THE 2015/2016 FINANCIAL INFORMATION RETURN (For Decision) 

The Financial Information Return (FIR) is a template data entry form that the Province gives each 
municipal unit to populate the template with each municipal unit’s most recent fiscal year audited 
Financial Statements.  Staff is requesting Council to approve the F2015/16 FIR as part of the 
Provincial Requirements. 

PRESENTATION & APPROVAL OF THE 2016/17 STATEMENT OF ESTIMATES (For Decision) 

The Statement of Estimates (SOE) is a template data entry form that the Province gives each 
municipal unit to populate with each municipal unit’s current Operating Budget and Water 
Budget.  Staff is requesting Council approve the F2016/17 SOE as part of the Provincial requirements 

CONSIDERATION OF TAX WRITE-OFFS (For Decision) 

1. Tax write-off due to fire damage: Todd and Suzanne Power of St. Andrew’s had their home 

destroyed by a fire on April 22, 2016.  PVSC has provided the County with a fire letter asking 

us to reduce the residential assessment by $142,000.00 for the 2016 tax year.  As a result, 

staff is recommending that Council write-off $1,405.80 in taxes ($1,667.16 - $261.36) due to 

damage from a fire. 



 
 

 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE AGENDA AND MEMO 
NOVEMBER 1ST, 2016 

2. Staff from the tax department has prepared a list of accounts that have been deemed 

uncollectable, either because their status is inactive with PVSC or Land Registry, they are 

double-assessed, or in one circumstance, the mini home was removed overnight.  Staff is 

recommending that the total amount of $7,312.17 be written off. 

REVIEW OF COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE & SOLICITATION OF PUBLIC MEMBERS (For 
Discussion) 

Attached you will find draft terms of reference for the following committee: 

 Active Transportation Advisory Committee 

 Economic Development Advisory Committee 

 Joint Council Committee 

 Planning Advisory Committee 

 Sustainable Communities Advisory Committee 

These terms of reference have been drafted to provide each committee and its members’ direction 
concerning their goals, purpose, membership and responsibilities; previously this direction had been 
informal or ad hoc.   

Specific to the four advisory committees: it is proposed that the Municipality begin soliciting public 
members.  Public member for each of these committees will then be presented to Municipal Council 
for consideration & approval.  The terms of reference will be provided to each committee for further 
comment prior to being presented to Municipal Council for final approval.   

Specific to the Joint Council Committee: the attached terms of reference attempt to establish the 
Joint Council group as an official committee of both the Municipality and the Town.  This structure 
will provide the “Joint Council” official standing, a specific purpose and enable the committee to 
make recommendations to each council.  The draft terms of reference have been shared with Town 
officials; feedback is being sought from the Committee prior to it being submitted for formal 
consideration and approval. 

FIRST NATIONS - MUNICIPAL COMMUNITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVE UPDATE (For 
Discussion) 

The Municipality has been tentatively selected to participate in the First Nation - Municipal 
Community Economic Development Initiative (CEDI).  An application to this program was made by 
the Paqtnkek Mi’kmaw Nation.   

The First Nations–Municipal Community Economic Development Initiative (CEDI) aims to improve 
the economic prosperity of participating municipalities and adjacent First Nations through joint 
community economic development planning.  CEDI is a joint initiative by the Federation of Canadian 
Municipalities (FCM) and Cando, a national non-profit Aboriginal organization involved in community 
economic development with Aboriginal communities. 

CEDI is FCM's second program supporting municipalities and adjacent First Nations. In 2010, FCM 
implemented its Community Infrastructure Partnership Program (CIPP) to enhance relationships and 
work toward the development of joint service agreements between these communities. In 



 
 

 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE AGENDA AND MEMO 
NOVEMBER 1ST, 2016 

partnership with Cando, FCM will build on the strengths of this award-winning program to 
implement CEDI. 

Antigonish County and Paqtnkek Mi’kmaw Nation are one of six pairs of First Nations and adjacent 
municipalities across Canada chosen through a nation-wide selection process.  Over the course of 
the program, FCM and Cando will facilitate a series of workshops and follow-up visits with the 
selected communities to help to enhance their relationships and work toward developing a joint, 
strategic economic development plan or project.  Participating communities will also benefit from 
peer mentorship, communities of practice, study tours and small capacity building grants to help 
them achieve their community economic development goals.   

This tentative selection will be confirmed pending the outcome of a community needs assessment 
and validation visit and confirmation of the willingness to participate, demonstrated through a band 
council resolution from Paqtnkek Mi'kmaw Nation and a parallel municipal council resolution from 
Municipality of the County of Antigonish. 

This assessment and validation visit is scheduled for the following dates in late November. 

 Meeting between FCM / Cando officials and Municipal Council & senior staff: Tuesday, 
November 22 @ 5:30pm. 

 Meeting between FCM / Cando officials and Paqtnkek Band Council & senior staff: 
Wednesday, November 23. 

 Joint meeting among FCM / Cando officials, Paqtnkek Band Council, Municipal Council & 
senior staff: Thursday, November 24, time TBD.  

To prepare Municipal Council & staff for this exercise and our initial meetings with Paqtnkek officials, 
Sarah MacDonald, NSHA Manager of Public Engagement and former Senior Policy Advisor at the 
Assembly of First Nations will provide a brief cultural competency workshop prior to the November 
15 Committee of the Whole meeting. 

Any questions concerning this initiative can be raised at the meeting. 

CORPORATE PLAN REQUESTS FOR PROPOSALS (For Decision) 

In the 2016/17 Operating Budget, Municipal Council approved funding for the development of the 
Municipality’s first Corporate Plan.  A request for proposals for facilitation of this plan is attached for 
the Committee’s review and approval.  Staff is further seeking two councillors to assist in the 
evaluation of the submissions. 

WEST RIVER BANK EROSION (For Discussion) 

Concerns have been raised from residents backing on to the West River of erosion to the bank.  
Councillor MacFarlane will discuss further at the meeting. 

CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS (in-camera) 

This subject matter falls within Section 22(2) of the Municipal Government Act as a matter that a 
committee may discuss in a closed session. It is recommended a motion be made to initiate an in-
camera session.  Materials will follow. 



 
 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING MINUTES PAGE 1 
SEPTEMBER 20TH, 2016 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING MINUTES 

A Committee of the Whole Meeting was held Tuesday, September 20th, 2016 at 5:30pm in the 
Council Chambers of the Municipal Administrative Centre, 285 Beech Hill Road, Antigonish NS. 

Present were:  Warden Russell Boucher  
Deputy Warden Owen McCarron, Chair 
Councillor Angus Bowie 
Councillor Mary MacLellan 

   Councillor Vaughan Chisholm  
Councillor Rémi Deveau  
Councillor Bill MacFarlane 
Councillor Donnie MacDonald 

   Glenn Horne, Municipal Clerk/Treasurer 
   Beth Schumacher, Deputy Municipal Clerk 
    

Regrets:  Councillor Hughie Stewart 
Councillor Pierre Boucher 

The meeting of the Committee of the Whole was called to order by the Chair, Deputy Warden 
McCarron, at 5:31pm. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

The following items were added to the agenda: 

4(b) – Contract Negotiations - In camera discussion 

10 – Affordable Housing Update 

11 – Auld’s Cove Lights 

Moved by Councillor MacDonald and seconded by Councillor MacLellan that the agenda be 
approved as amended.  Motion carried. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Moved by Councillor Deveau and seconded by Councillor MacLellan that the Committee of the 
Whole minutes of September 6th, 2016 be approved as presented.  Motion carried. 

BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES  

There was no business arising from the minutes. 

CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS (IN CAMERA) 

This subject matter falls within Section 22(2) of the Municipal Government Act as a matter that a 
committee may discuss in a closed session. It is recommended a motion be made to initiate an in-
camera session.  



 
 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING MINUTES PAGE 2 
SEPTEMBER 20TH, 2016 

Moved by Deputy Warden McCarron and seconded by Councillor MacDonald that the Committee of 
the Whole Meeting be adjourned to an In-Camera Session to discuss contract negotiations at 
5:33pm.  Motion carried.  

Moved by Councillor MacLellan and seconded by Councillor MacFarlane that the In-Camera session 
be adjourned at 5:51pm. Motion carried.  

3RD ANNUAL BUSINESS ABILITY BANQUET 

CACL Antigonish has invited Council to the 3rd Annual Business Ability Banquet on Thursday 
November 10th at 6:00 p.m. at the MacKay Room, StFX, Antigonish. Celebrated Canadian/ Mental 
Health Advocate Margaret Trudeau, is scheduled as this year’s keynote speaker.   

Moved by Councillor Chisholm and seconded by Councillor MacDonald that the Committee 
recommends that Municipal Council book a table for eight (8) for the 3rd Annual Business Ability 
Banquet.  Motion carried. 

TOURISM STRATEGY 

Mr. Horne presented a memo prepared by staff, which was included in the agenda package, 
providing a summary of the Nova Scotia Tourism Strategy and outlining how other municipal units 
in Nova Scotia and other jurisdictions are involved with the tourism sector.  The memo provides 
some guidance to the Committee on recommended parameters for any next steps.  Staff is looking 
for feedback from the Committee on how to proceed with this project. 

Further, copies of the Crown Corporation Business Plans (2016-2017) for Tourism Nova Scotia and 
the Tourism Nova Scotia Strategy Summary (April 2016) were also attached for the Committee’s 
reference.  A summary of the organizational structure and the services provided by DEANS was also 
provided to the Committee for reference. 

A general discussion was held, covering the topics of jurisdiction of responsibility (local vs. 
provincial), the provincial strategy for tourism and how it doesn’t appear to support small 
components/operations, and options available such a room levies and how it might be received 
based on past experiences.  There was also some discussion regarding the role and success of 
DEANS to date, where the REN might fit into this topic, and what the Municipality’s role might be.  
Consensus was to park this memo for now, and revisit the topic in the future. 

CONSIDERATION OF POLICY FOR COUNCIL AND STAFF PARTICIPATION ON EXTERNAL 
COMMUNITY BOARDS 

Mr. Horne introduced a proposed policy addressing the participation of members of Council and 
staff on external community boards.  Mr. Horne noted that this policy had been created following 
questions regarding insurance coverage for members of Council serving on external boards, led to a 
bigger question of what are we involved with now, and what should we be involved with? 

Examples of policies from elsewhere in Nova Scotia and other provinces were consulted for 
reference.  The effect of the policy is to spell out a number of criteria that must be satisfied in order 
for a municipal official to serve on a board that is external to the organization of the Municipality.  
Exceptions to this policy are noted, primarily being boards that the Municipality is obliged to supply 



 
 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING MINUTES PAGE 3 
SEPTEMBER 20TH, 2016 

representation for through legislation.  Nothing in this policy precludes municipal officials from 
serving on external boards as private citizens. 

The Committee asked that staff do a full evaluation of the current list of Boards (appended to the 
proposed policy), as there may be some organizations that appear to be disqualified by this policy 
that could satisfy the criteria.  Clarification was provided to the Committee, noting that 
organizations could be added to the list in the future if that organization was able to satisfy the 
criteria noted in the policy.   

Councillor Bowie suggested an implementation date, and the date of November 1, 2016 was agreed 
upon.  Councillor MacDonald asked whether letters would be provided to the external boards that 
currently have Council representation, notifying them of the policy and criteria for participation.  
Mr. Horne indicated that this would happen. 

Moved by Councillor Deveau and seconded by Councillor MacFarlane that the Committee 
recommends that Municipal Council approve the proposed policy for Council and Staff Participation 
on External Community Boards, with an effective date of November 1, 2016.  Motion carried. 

1ST ANNUAL ANTIGONISH HALLOWE’EN HARVEST BASH 

Mr. Horne provided a brief summary of a written request received from the organizers of an event 
similar to a community fair to celebrate Hallowe’en and the farm harvest season on Friday October 
28th, from 6-9pm in the Commercial Building on the Fairgrounds behind the arena.  The group 
organizing this event is looking for a donation from the County to assist with the expenses of 
running the event.  There was some discussion regarding events held in previous years, including 
last year’s event with Crime Prevention.   

Mr. Horne explained that normal grant request procedure, taking place in the winter for the fiscal 
year ahead, did not work for this particular request, which is why it was before the Committee.  
There was a question regarding what the expenses for the event might be, as no breakdown was 
provided.  There was also a question as to whether the same request for funding had been made of 
the Town.  Consensus of the Committee was to match whatever funding is provided to the event by 
the Town. 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING UPDATE 

Councillor MacDonald provided an update regarding the status of the tender awarded for the first 
phase of the affordable housing project known as Riverside Estates.  Three bids were received for 
this four-unit phase, with the tender being awarded to Robert Archibald General Contracting and 
DeCoste Electrical at $416,258 + HST.  Construction is expected to take 14 weeks, and work on the 
project has already started. 

Councillor Deveau mentioned that he had been contacted by a developer from Arichat, looking for 
land to construct 12 affordable housing units in or around Antigonish.  

AULD’S COVE LIGHTS 

Warden Boucher brought forward a letter and petition from residents of Auld’s Cove regarding the 
intensity of the new LED lights that have been installed on the hydro towers crossing the Strait of 
Canso.  The residents have asked that Municipal Council send a letter to Nova Scotia power 



 
 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING MINUTES PAGE 4 
SEPTEMBER 20TH, 2016 

expressing this concern, and requesting that this lighting type be modified or changed sooner than 
the 2017 timeline indicated by Nova Scotia Power. 

Moved by Councillor MacLellan and seconded by Councillor Deveau that the Committee 
recommends that Municipal Council write a letter to Nova Scotia Power articulating community 
concerns with the brightness of the lights on the transmission line crossing the Cano Causeway.  
Motion carried. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by Councillor Deveau and seconded by Councillor MacFarlane that the Committee of the 
Whole meeting be adjourned at 6:58pm. Motion carried. 

______________________________   _______________________________ 
Warden Russell Boucher    Glenn Horne, Municipal Clerk/Treasurer 











































































Inactive Accounts Requested to be Written Off - November 1, 2016 

   Roll # Uncollectable balance Explanation 

00384925 $151.13 PVSC Double Assessed 

00536466 $155.51 Trailer unfound 

00748269 $105.12 Land taken for Highway 

02626217 $828.65 PVSC Double Assessed 

04537343 $24.98 PVSC Double Assessed 

06178154 $201.52 Trailer gone since 2012 

06300685 $2,496.73 Trailer unfound 

06301037 $113.12 PVSC Double Assessed 

07126506 $107.70 Trailer unfound 

07130139 $58.74 Trailer unfound 

07134088 $501.06 Trailer unfound 

07134169 $136.64 Trailer unfound 

07134177 $158.20 Trailer unfound 

07144210 $442.73 Trailer unfound 

07144660 $107.50 Trailer unfound 

07144806 $689.71 Trailer unfound 

07203810 $477.35 Trailer unfound 

07205066 $350.66 Trailer unfound 

07205732 $221.94 Trailer unfound 

09102302 $17.87 PVSC Double Assessed 

09690573 $17.19 PVSC Double Assessed 

10299081 $2.53 Trailer moved, interest on account 

10524921 $3.95 PVSC Double Assessed 

      

Total $7,370.53   

 



 

Topic: Active Transportation Advisory 
Committee 

Date Approved:  

Item: Terms of Reference  Amendments: 

 

Introduction 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish (hereafter “the Municipality”) wish to 
establish an advisory committee to provide feedback on the Municipality’s Active 
Transportation Plan (AT) as well as to provide recommendations on actions and 
strategies to move the AT Plan forward.  To this end, the Active Transportation Advisory 
Committee is established.   

1. Goals 

To assist the Municipality in an effort:   

 To increase the number of Active Transportation opportunities available to 
residents of Antigonish County and surrounding area. 

 
 2. Mandate  
The purpose of Committee is:  

 To identify opportunities and ways in which the municipality can support 
community based AT initiatives. 

 To identify potential AT projects in which the Municipality could play a major or 
lead role.  

 To identify AT opportunities in which the County and Town have similar 
outcomes and could potentially work together.  

 To assist the with the organization and delivery of a community information 
session to:  

o Share the Municipality of the County of Antigonish’s Active 
Transportation plan as the guiding document/vision for AT in Antigonish 
County  

o Provide an overview of the Municipality’s work to date and anticipated 
next steps.  

o Provide a venue for provincial departments to outline the 
resources/supports available for AT. Also, to introduce community 
members  to provincial personnel working in the field of AT 

 

 Take other steps consistent with this policy that the committee reasonably 
deems necessary to carry out its mandate; and, 



 

Active Transportation Committee – Terms of Reference Page 2 
 

 Take action on such matters as are formally delegated to it by Council. 

3.  Membership 

Membership shall include three members of Municipal Council and three members of 
the public who are residents of the Municipality of the County of Antigonish. 

 The Council shall appoint members of the Active Transportation Advisory 
Committee by resolution. 

 The term for members shall be three years, and members may be re-appointed 
to the Committee. Public members’ terms shall be by fiscal year, with one 
member appointed each year. 

 In January of each year, an advertisement for the public member(s) whose term 
is set to expire that fiscal year shall be placed in the local newspaper. It is the 
intention to have members with a varied background; however, members with a 
planning, architecture, engineering or other similar background will have some 
preference. 

 A the beginning of the first meeting of each fiscal year the Committee will elect a 
Chairperson as well as a Vice-Chairperson. The terms for such shall be one year. 
The chairperson and vice chairperson may be re-elected. 

4. Meetings 

 The Committee will meet on monthly basis, on a time agreed upon by the 
committee members. Meetings will take place at the Municipal Administrative 
Center, 285 Beech Hill Rd, and Antigonish.   

 Meeting frequency and location is subject to change at the committee`s 
discretion.  

 Meeting frequency and location may be changed when appropriate by the 
Chairperson in consultation with the Recreation Director. 

 The Chairperson may convene additional meetings as deemed necessary in 
consultation with the Recreation Director. 

 Meetings may be cancelled by the Chairperson in consultation with the 
Recreation Director  when there are no agenda items. 

 A quorum will consist of fifty percent plus one of the total number of members.  
Vacancies shall not be counted towards the total number of members.  

 Agenda items must be forwarded to staff at least two weeks in advance of 
meetings. 

 Agendas and staff reports shall be made available to the Committee one week 
prior to the scheduled meeting.  Agendas and staff reports shall also be posted 
to each Municipality’s website prior to the meeting.  

 No additions will be permitted at the beginning of a meeting unless unanimously 
accepted. 

 

5. Role and Responsibility of Municipal Staff 



 

Active Transportation Committee – Terms of Reference Page 3 
 

The Recreation Director is responsible for all functions of the Committee including:  

(a) Calling meeting; 
(b) Taking minutes;  
(c) Distribution of reports and other information as required;  
(d) Public notification as required;  
(e) Providing Committee motions and a report to the Municipal Clerk Treasurer for 

inclusion on the Council agenda.  

Where additional information or work is required of staff by the Advisory Committee 
the Recreation Director will be responsible for prioritizing staff resources, in conjunction 
with the Municipal Clerk Treasurer when required.  

Meetings are to be attended by the Recreation Director or designate as well as a 
Recorder.  At the discretion of the Recreation Director, other staff may be invited / 
asked to attend as well. Standing invitations to meetings are extended to the Municipal 
Clerk Treasurer and all Senior Leadership Team members.    

6. Reporting and Communication 

Meetings of the Committee are open to the public unless deemed to fall within section 
22 of the Municipal Government Act.   

A meeting report including any forthcoming recommendations shall be presented to 
each council at its next regular meeting. 

7. Conflict of Interest 

Members shall declare possible conflicts of interest before agenda items are presented 
and leave the meeting or part of the meeting during which the matter is under 
consideration.  

8. Amendments 

The Committee may recommend amendments to these terms of reference to Municipal 
Council.  Municipal Council has authority to make any amendment to these terms of 
reference.   

 



 

Topic: Economic Development Advisory 
Committee 

Date Approved: November 2016 

Item: Terms of Reference Amendments: 

 

Introduction 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish (hereafter “the Municipality”) wish to 
establish an advisory committee to guide municipal initiatives related to economic 
development.  To this end, the Economic Development Advisory Committee is 
established.   

1. Goals 

To assist the Municipality in an effort to: 

 Identify opportunities for meaningful and value-added contributions to the local 
and regional economy; 

 Promote the Antigonish area as a vibrant and healthy community with an 
interest in seeing responsible economic development; and 

 Work collaboratively with local businesses and organizations that support 
business, specifically the Eastern-Strait Regional Enterprise Network, for the 
benefit of the local and regional economy. 

2. Mandate  

The purpose of Committee is to: 

 Advise Municipal Council on initiatives or measures related to achieving its goals; 

 Provide guidance on the administration of the Antigonish County Industrial Park; 

 Gather information on matters affecting economic development in the 
Municipality & region; 

 Provide a forum to hear and consider representation from any individual, 
organization or delegation with respect to economic development; 

 Take other steps consistent with this policy that the committee reasonably 
deems necessary to carry out its mandate; and, 

 Take action on such matters as are formally delegated to it by Council. 

3.  Membership 

Membership shall include three members of Municipal Council and three members of 
the public who are residents of the Municipality of the County of Antigonish. 

 The Council shall appoint members of the Economic Development Advisory 
Committee by resolution. 



 

Joint Council Committee – Terms of Reference Page 2 
 

 The term for members shall be three years, and members may be re-appointed 
to the Committee. Public members’ terms shall be by fiscal year, with one 
member appointed each year. 

 In January of each year, an advertisement for the public member(s) whose term 
is set to expire that fiscal year shall be placed in the local newspaper. It is the 
intention to have members with a varied background; however, members with a 
planning, architecture, engineering or other similar background will have some 
preference. 

 A the beginning of the first meeting of each fiscal year the Committee will elect a 
Chairperson as well as a Vice-Chairperson. The terms for such shall be one year. 
The chairperson and vice chairperson may be re-elected. 

4. Meetings 

 The Committee will meet on a (monthly / bi-monthly / quarterly) basis, on the 
third Wednesday of November, February, June and September in the (choose 
location) 

 Meeting times may be changed when appropriate by the Chairperson in 
consultation with the Municipal Clerk Treasurer or designate. 

 The Chairperson may convene additional meetings as deemed necessary in 
consultation with the Municipal Clerk Treasurer or designate. 

 Meetings may be cancelled by the Chairperson in consultation with Municipal 
Clerk Treasurer or designate when there are no agenda items. 

 A quorum will consist of fifty percent plus one of the total number of members.  
Vacancies shall not be counted towards the total number of members. 

 Agenda items must be forwarded to staff at least two weeks in advance of 
meetings. 

 Agendas and staff reports shall be made available to the Committee one week 
prior to the scheduled meeting.  Agendas and staff reports shall also be posted 
to each Municipality’s website prior to the meeting.  

 No additions will be permitted at the beginning of a meeting unless unanimously 
accepted. 

5. Role and Responsibility of Municipal Staff 

Municipal Clerk Treasurer or designate is responsible for all functions of the Committee 
including:  

(a) Calling meeting; 
(b) Taking minutes;  
(c) Distribution of reports and other information as required;  
(d) Public notification as required;  
(e) Providing Committee motions and a report to the Municipal Clerk Treasurer for 

inclusion on the Council agenda.  



 

Joint Council Committee – Terms of Reference Page 3 
 

Where additional information or work is required of staff by the Advisory Committee 
the Municipal Clerk Treasurer or designate will be responsible for prioritizing staff 
resources, in conjunction with the Municipal Clerk Treasurer when required.  

Meetings are to be attended by the Municipal Clerk Treasurer or designate as well as a 
Recorder.  At the discretion of the Municipal Clerk Treasurer or designate, other staff 
may be invited / asked to attend as well. Standing invitations to meetings are extended 
to the Municipal Clerk Treasurer, all Senior Leadership Team members and the CEO of 
the Eastern-Strait Regional Enterprise Network.    

6. Reporting and Communication 

Meetings of the Committee are open to the public unless deemed to fall within section 
22 of the Municipal Government Act.   

A meeting report including any forthcoming recommendations shall be presented to 
each council at its next regular meeting. 

7. Conflict of Interest 

Members shall declare possible conflicts of interest before agenda items are presented 
and leave the meeting or part of the meeting during which the matter is under 
consideration.  

8. Amendments 

The Committee may recommend amendments to these terms of reference to Municipal 
Council.  Municipal Council has authority to make any amendment to these terms of 
reference.   

 



 
 

Topic: Joint Council Committee 

Item: Terms of Reference 

Date Approved: November 2016 

Amendments: 

Introduction 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish (hereafter “the Municipality”) and the 
Town of Antigonish (hereafter “the Town”) wish to establish a committee through 
which issues of mutual interest may be discussed at the council level.  To this end, 
the Joint Council Committee has been established.   

1. Goals 

To assist the Municipality and the Town in an effort to: 

 Identify opportunities for and encourage coordination, cooperation or 
amalgamation of services and/or programs between the municipal units. 

 Promote the Antigonish area as a vibrant and healthy community with a rich 
heritage and future.   

2. Purpose  

The purpose of Committee is to: 

 Facilitate communication between and among elected officials and provide a 
forum for the exchange of information on issues of mutual interest; 

 Provide guidance to councils when required or requested;  
 Review studies, plans and proposals related to the approved committee goals 

and provide comments to staff and recommendations Councils.  
 Propose policy changes that would encourage or enable the Committee’s 

approved goals. 
 Act as a single forum for presentations or report to both municipalities when 

appropriate.   

4.  Membership 

 All elected officials of both the Municipality and the Town are considered 
members of this committee.   

 The Municipal Clerk Treasurer and the Town CAO are also non-voting 
members of the Committee. 

OR 

 # elected officials from the Municipality and # elected officials from the 
Town, appointed by resolution will comprise the members of this committee.   



 

Joint Council Committee – Terms of Reference Page 2 
 

 The Warden of the Municipality and the Mayor of the Town will be voting 
members.   

 The Municipal Clerk Treasurer and the Town CAO are also non-voting 
members of the Committee. 

The Warden and the Mayor shall act as the chair on a rotating basis.   

6. Meetings 

 The Committee will meet on a quarterly basis, on the third Wednesday of 
November, February, June and September.   

 Together, the Warden and Mayor may convene additional meetings as 
deemed necessary in consultation with the Municipal Clerk Treasurer and 
Town CAO. 

 A quorum will consist of fifty percent plus one of the members from each 
municipal unit counted independently.  

 Meeting location and coordination shall rotate between the Municipality and 
the Town on a one-for-one basis. 

 Minutes shall be kept and the municipality coordinating the meeting will 
provide secretarial support.   

 Agenda items will be compiled by the Municipal Clerk Treasurer and/or the 
Town CAO.  Any agenda items must be forwarded to staff at least two weeks 
in advance of meetings. 

 Agendas and staff reports shall be made available to the Committee one week 
prior to the scheduled meeting. Agendas and staff reports shall also be 
posted to each Municipality’s website prior to the meeting.  

 No additions to the agenda will be permitted at the beginning of a meeting 
unless unanimously accepted. 

7. Role and Responsibility of Municipal & Town Staff 

Staff representatives from the Municipality of the County of Antigonish and the 
Town of Antigonish shall provide administrative and research support to the 
Committee. This includes, but is not limited to the preparation and distribution of 
agendas and staff reports.  Staff of each municipal unit will maintain a copy of all 
official records pertaining to the committee within their organization in accordance 
with their records management policy. 

8. Reporting and Communication 

Meetings of the Committee are open to the public unless deemed to fall within 
section 22 of the Municipal Government Act.   

A meeting report including the meeting agenda and any forthcoming 
recommendations shall be presented to both councils at their next regular meeting. 

Approved motions of the committee shall constitute recommendations to both the 
Councils of the Municipality of the County of Antigonish and the Town of Antigonish. 

9. Conflict of Interest 



 

Joint Council Committee – Terms of Reference Page 3 
 

Members shall declare possible conflicts of interest before agenda items are 
presented and leave the meeting or part of the meeting during which the matter is 
under consideration.  

10. Amendments 

The Committee may recommend amendments to these terms of reference to each of 
the participating councils.  Municipal and Town councils must both approve of any 
amendment. 



 

Topic: Planning Advisory Committee Date Approved: November 2016 

Item: Terms of Reference Amendments: 

 

Introduction 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish (hereafter “the Municipality”) wish to 
establish a Planning Advisory Committee in accordance with Section 200 of the 
Municipal Government Act. To this end, the Planning Advisory Committee is hereby 
established. 

1. Goals 

To assist the Municipality in an effort to: 

 Develop community-based municipal planning; and 

 Foster vibrant and healthy communities while balancing economic development 
and sustainability. 

 
2. Mandate  

The mandate of the Planning Advisory Committee is to: 

1. Advise Municipal Council respecting the preparation or amendment of Municipal 
Planning Strategies, Land Use Bylaws and the Subdivision Bylaw, as well as 
general land use planning matters. 

2. Receive and consider recommendations from any of the Municipality’s Area 
Advisory Committees. 

3. Act as the Heritage Advisory Committee pursuant to the Heritage Properties 
Bylaw. 

4. Gather information on matters affecting planning and development; 
5. Provide a forum to hear and consider representation from any individual, 

organization or delegation with respect to planning; 
6. Take other steps consistent with this policy that the committee reasonably 

deems necessary to carry out its mandate; and, 
7. Take action on such matters as are lawfully delegated to it by statute or by 

Council. 

The duties assigned to the Committee shall only be carried out by the Committee. 

3. Membership 

Membership shall include three members of Municipal Council and three members of 
the public who are residents of the Municipality of the County of Antigonish. 



 

Planning Advisory Committee – Terms of Reference Page 2 
 

 The Council shall appoint members of the Planning Advisory Committee by 
resolution. 

 The term for members shall be three years, and members may be re-appointed 
to the Committee. Public members’ terms shall be by fiscal year, with one 
member appointed each year. 

 In January of each year, an advertisement for the public member(s) whose term 
is set to expire that fiscal year shall be placed in the local newspaper. It is the 
intention to have members with a varied background; however, members with a 
planning, architecture, engineering or other similar background will have some 
preference. 

 A the beginning of the first meeting of each fiscal year the Committee will elect a 
Chairperson as well as a Vice-Chairperson. The terms for such shall be one year. 
The chairperson and vice chairperson may be re-elected. 

4. Meetings 

 The Committee will meet on a (monthly / bi-monthly / quarterly) basis, on the 
third Wednesday of November, February, June and September in the (choose 
location) 

 The Chairperson in consultation with the Director of Planning may change 
meeting times when appropriate. 

 The Chairperson in consultation with the Director of Planning may convene 
additional meetings as deemed necessary.  

 The Chairperson in consultation with the Director of Planning may cancel 
meetings when there are no agenda items. 

 A quorum will consist of fifty percent plus one of the total number of members. 
Vacancies shall not be counted towards the total number of members.  

 Agenda items must be forwarded to staff at least two weeks in advance of 
meetings. 

 Agendas and staff reports shall be made available to the Committee one week 
prior to the scheduled meeting. Agendas and staff reports shall also be posted to 
each the Municipality’s and the Planning Commission’s website prior to the 
meeting.  

 No additions will be permitted at the beginning of a meeting unless unanimously 
accepted. 

7. Role and Responsibility of Municipal Staff 
The Director of Planning is responsible for all functions of the Committee including:  

(a) Calling meeting; 
(b) Taking minutes;  
(c) Distribution of reports and other information as required;  
(d) Public notification as required;  
(e) Providing Committee motions and a report to the Municipal Clerk Treasurer for 

inclusion on the Council agenda.  



 

Planning Advisory Committee – Terms of Reference Page 3 
 

Where additional information or work is required of staff by the Advisory Committee 
the Director of Planning will be responsible for prioritizing staff resources, in conjunction 
with the Municipal Clerk Treasurer when required.  

Meetings are to be attended by the Director of Planning or designate as well as a 
Recorder. At the discretion of the Director of Planning other staff may be invited / asked 
to attend as well. Standing invitations to meetings are extended to the Municipal Clerk 
Treasurer and all Senior Leadership Team members.  

8. Reporting and Communication 

Meetings of the Committee are open to the public unless deemed to fall within section 
203 of the Municipal Government Act.  

A meeting report including any forthcoming recommendations shall be presented to 
each council at its next regular meeting. 

9. Conflict of Interest 

Members shall declare possible conflicts of interest before agenda items are presented 
and leave the meeting or part of the meeting during which the matter is under 
consideration. 

10. Amendments 

The Committee may recommend amendments to these terms of reference to Municipal 
Council. Municipal Council has authority to make any amendment to these terms of 
reference.  



 

Topic: Sustainable Communities Advisory 
Committee 

Date Approved: November 2016 

Item: Terms of Reference Amendments: 

 

Introduction 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish (hereafter “the Municipality”) wish to 
establish an advisory committee to guide development of initiatives that support 
sustainable communities.  To this end, the Sustainable Communities Advisory 
Committee is established.   

1. Goals 

To assist the Municipality in an effort to: 

 Identify opportunities for and encourage coordination, cooperation and 
efficiency in policy, projects and programs related to sustainability. 

 Clearly define sustainability with Municipal practice and operations. 
 

2. Mandate  

The purpose of Committee is to ; 

 Advise Municipal Council on issues and actions that are identified in pre-existing 
municipal plans.  

 Act as gatherers of information, liaisons between community and council. 

 Gather information on matters affecting sustainability, community engagement 
and environmental stewardship; 

 Provide a forum to hear and consider representation from any individual, 
organization or delegation with respect to sustainability in Antigonish County. 

 Take other steps consistent with this document that the committee reasonably 
deems necessary to carry out its mandate; and, 

 Take action on such matters as are formally delegated to it by Council. 

3.  Membership 

Membership shall include three members of Municipal Council and three members of 
the public who are residents of the Municipality of the County of Antigonish and the 
Director of Sustainable Communities or designate. 

 The Council shall appoint members of the Sustainable Communities Advisory 
Committee by resolution. 



 

Joint Council Committee – Terms of Reference Page 2 
 

 The term for members shall be three years, and members may be re-appointed 
to the Committee. Public members’ terms shall be by fiscal year, with one 
member appointed each year. 

 In January of each year, an advertisement for the public member(s) whose term 
is set to expire that fiscal year shall be placed in the local newspaper. It is the 
intention to have members with a varied background; however, members with a 
planning, architecture, engineering or other similar background will have some 
preference. 

 A the beginning of the first meeting of each fiscal year the Committee will elect a 
Chairperson as well as a Vice-Chairperson. The terms for such shall be one year. 
The chairperson and vice chairperson may be re-elected. 

4. Meetings 

 The Committee will meet on a bi-monthly basis, on the ? in the (choose location) 

 Meeting times may be changed when appropriate by the Chairperson in 
consultation with the Director of Sustainable Communities. 

 The Chairperson may convene additional meetings as deemed necessary in 
consultation with the Director of Sustainable Communities. 

 Meetings may be cancelled by the Chairperson in consultation with the Director 
of Sustainable Communities when there are no agenda items. 

 A quorum will consist of fifty percent plus one of the total number of members. 
Vacancies shall not be counted towards the total number of members. 

 Agenda items must be forwarded to staff at least two weeks in advance of 
meetings. 

 Agendas and staff reports shall be made available to the Committee one week 
prior to the scheduled meeting.  Agendas and staff reports shall also be posted 
to each Municipality’s website prior to the meeting.  

 No additions will be permitted at the beginning of a meeting unless unanimously 
accepted. 

5. Role and Responsibility of Municipal Staff 

Director of Sustainable Communities is responsible for all functions of the Committee 
including:  

(a) Calling meeting; 
(b) Taking minutes;  
(c) Distribution of reports and other information as required;  
(d) Public notification as required;  
(e) Providing Committee motions and a report to the Municipal Clerk Treasurer for 

inclusion on the Council agenda.  

Where additional information or work is required of staff by the Advisory Committee 
the Director of Sustainable Communities will be responsible for prioritizing staff 
resources, in conjunction with the Municipal Clerk Treasurer when required.  



 

Joint Council Committee – Terms of Reference Page 3 
 

Meetings are to be attended by the Director of Sustainable Communities or designate as 
well as a Recorder.  At the discretion of the Director of Sustainable Communities, other 
staff may be invited / asked to attend as well. Standing invitations to meetings are 
extended to the Municipal Clerk Treasurer and all Senior Leadership Team members.    

6. Reporting and Communication 

Meetings of the Committee are open to the public unless deemed to fall within section 
22 of the Municipal Government Act.   

A meeting report including any forthcoming recommendations shall be presented to 
each council at its next regular meeting. 

7. Conflict of Interest 

Members shall declare possible conflicts of interest before agenda items are presented 
and leave the meeting or part of the meeting during which the matter is under 
consideration.  

8. Amendments 

The Committee may recommend amendments to these terms of reference to Municipal 
Council.  Municipal Council has authority to make any amendment to these terms of 
reference.   

 



 

Advisory Committee Application 

Name:  

Address: 

 
Which Committee / Board are you interested in? 

 Planning Advisory Committee 

 Sustainable Communities Advisory Committee 

 Economic Development Advisory Committee  

 Active Transportation Advisory Committee  

 Heritage Museum Board 
 

 
Why would you like to be a member of this committee? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
What background, skills and/or competencies do you bring to this committee? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Notes: 

 You are welcome to include a resume or any additional information to support the application. 

 If you are interested in applying for more than one committee, please complete separate 
applications. 

 Applications must be received by Friday, November 25 at 4pm at 285 Beech Hill Rd, Antigonish 
or glenn.horne@antigonishcounty.ns.ca.  

 Questions may be directed to Glenn Horne at the email address above or 902-863-1117. 

Signature:  
 

mailto:glenn.horne@antigonishcounty.ns.ca


                                                              
 
 
 

 

Warden Russell Boucher 
Municipality of the County of Antigonish 
285 Beech Hill Road 
RR 6 Stn Main, Antigonish, NS, B2G 0B4 
 
August 16, 2016 
 
RE: First Nations – Municipal Community Economic Development Initiative (CEDI) 
 
Dear Warden Boucher: 
 
The Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) and Cando (the Council for the Advancement of Native 
Development Officers) jointly deliver the First Nation Municipal Community Economic Development 
Initiative (CEDI). This program aims to improve joint economic prosperity of municipalities and adjacent 
First Nations by building capacity for joint community economic development (CED) planning and 
projects.  
 
At a recent meeting of the CEDI Community Selection Committee, the application of Paqtnkek Mi'kmaw 
Nation and the Municipality of the County of Antigonish was reviewed for participation in the program.    
 
We are pleased to inform you that the Committee has tentatively selected Paqtnkek Mi'kmaw Nation 
and the Municipality of the County of Antigonish to participate in the initiative.  Congratulations! This 
tentative selection will be confirmed pending the outcome of a community needs assessment and 
validation  visit and confirmation of the willingness to participate, demonstrated through a band council 
resolution from Paqtnkek Mi'kmaw Nation and a parallel municipal council resolution from Municipality 
of the County of Antigonish.  Please note that a similar letter has been sent to Paqtnkek Mi'kmaw Nation 
Chief Paul James Prosper and that we will be following up to this letter by phone within two business 
days.  
 
Community Pair Visit 
 
To fulfill these additional requirements for confirming selection, CEDI staff will be scheduling a visit to 
your community to determine both communities’ needs within the program and to verify that this 
community pairing is a good fit for the CEDI program. We recommend scheduling this visit for mid-
November, approximately one month following the Municipal elections in Nova Scotia. As CEDI staff will 
need to coordinate travel and visits with the other tentatively-selected community pairs, we wish to 
confirm  tentative dates this visit as soon as possible, so that we can schedule them as a placeholder for 
confirmation following the election.  CEDI staff would like to propose the following weeks for potential 
visits: 
 

 Option 1: Week of November 14th, 2016 

 Option 2: Week of November 21st, 2016   

http://www.fcm.ca/home/programs/community-economic-development-initiative.htm
http://www.fcm.ca/home/programs/community-economic-development-initiative.htm


                                                              
 
 
 

 

We would ask you to confirm which of these options would work best, or to contact us so that we can 
determine suitable alternate dates if necessary.  Your availability and that of any staff involved in 
community economic development would be required for a significant part of both days. 
 
The ideal format of this community pair visit is detailed on the following page.  CEDI will need to involve 
the following community elected officials and staff during its visit, while acknowledging that not all of 
these staff or positions may exist in Municipality of the County of Antigonish: 
 

 Mayor  

 Municipal council, especially any councillors with an economic development and land use 
planning portfolios 

 Economic Development Officer(s) (EDOs) 

 Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) 

 Any others involved in community economic development, land use planning  the 
education/training community, or the business community, or others who you feel should be 
part of this process 

 Community members, if you determine that CEDI staff should deliver a presentation to raise 
awareness of the program within the community. 

 
Visit Format 
 
The community pair visit will last two days and will ideally include the following: 
 

 Day 1: Individual meetings with both the Municipality and the First Nation, which could include 
tours of the communities if desired.  

 

 Day 2: Joint half day workshop, with representatives from both communities including elected 
leadership and senior staff who will be involved in the initiative.  

 

 Optional presentation for community members on either day.  
 
More details about each meeting are included in the table on the next page.  
  



                                                              
 
 
 

 

 
Meeting Who Attends Estimated 

Time 
Outcome 

Day 1: Meeting with the Warden 
and municipal staff working in 
economic development 
 
*Note that the CEDI team would 
have a similar meeting with Chief 
Peter Collins and representatives 
from Fort William First Nation on 
the same day 

 CEDI staff 

 Warden 

 EDO* 

 Land use planners 

 Councillors with Ec Dev, 
land use planning 
portfolio* 

 CAO* 

 Others* 
* If applicable, and may 
include CEO of Economic 
Development Corporation, 
representatives of the 
education, post-secondary, 
training and business 
communities (Chamber of 
Commerce) 

2.5 hours Further explain CEDI, conduct 
municipal community needs 
assessment 

Day 2: Joint meeting with 
primary community contacts 
(those who have been in touch 
with CEDI staff) and elected 
officials of both communities. 

 CEDI staff 

 Chief  

 Warden 

 Councillors from both 
communities 

 Senior staff from both 
communities, in 
particular, those 
responsible for economic 
development and land use 
planning.  

½ day with 
lunch 

Further explain CEDI, identify 
joint priorities and capacity 
building needs.  
 
This would serve as relationship 
building opportunity and 
explain CEDI to municipal and 
band/council prior to the 
development of 
band/municipal council 
resolutions.   
 
If necessary, these 
presentations to council could 
be done individually and 
separate from this meeting. 

Presentation to interested 
community members at large, if 
desired 

 CEDI staff 

 Chief  

 Mayor  

 Residents of both the First 
Nation and municipality 

1 ½ hours Explain CEDI 

Tour of the communities, 
including economic development 
projects 

 CEDI staff 

 Representative(s) from 
First Nation and 
municipality 

1-3 hours 
as needed 

CEDI staff better understand 
the local landscape and 
economic development context 



                                                              
 
 
 

 

 
 
Next Steps 
 
A member of the CEDI team will be contacting your office, as well as the office of Chief Paul James 
Prosper by phone within two days to confirm your availability for the proposed dates, to discuss any 
other requirements, and to answer any questions you may have at this stage.  In the meantime, we 
kindly ask that you take some time to determine who should be the main contact from your office for 
this initiative as we will plan to coordinate a phone call with them within the next few weeks. The 
purpose of this call will be to plan for the initial visit to the community, including confirming the dates 
and invitation list, coordinating logistics (meeting venue, etc.), and further clarifying the meeting agenda 
and objectives.  
 
Congratulations on being tentatively selected as a CEDI participating community.  We look forward to 
meeting you soon in person and learning more about your community and Paqtnkek Mi'kmaw Nation. In 
the meantime, please feel free to visit our website at http://www.fcm.ca/home/programs/community-
economic-development-initiative.htm and to contact any of us with any questions or concerns.  You can 
learn more about the CEDI approach through our toolkit at a glance, which can be accessed at 
http://www.fcm.ca/Documents/reports/CEDI/cedi-tkag-en-screen.pdf.  
 
For the CEDI team, 
 
 
 
Helen Patterson 
Program Manager  
First Nations – Municipal 
CEDI    
 
 
Federation of Canadian 
Municipalities   
24 Clarence Street 
Ottawa, ON  K1N 5P3  
(613) 907-6320  
 

 

 

 

 

Quintine Kootenay 
Western Region Manager 
First Nations – Municipal 
CEDI 
 
 
Cando 
9635 – 45 Avenue 
Edmonton, AB  T6E 5Z8 
(780) 990-0303  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Karen Miller  
Program Advisor  
First Nations – Municipal 
CEDI    
 
 
Federation of Canadian 
Municipalities   
24 Clarence Street 
Ottawa, ON  K1N 5P3  
(613) 907-6355 
  

http://www.fcm.ca/home/programs/community-economic-development-initiative.htm
http://www.fcm.ca/home/programs/community-economic-development-initiative.htm
http://www.fcm.ca/Documents/reports/CEDI/cedi-tkag-en-screen.pdf


 

1 Request for Proposals: Corporate Planning Facilitation 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
Corporate Planning Facilitation - “Choosing Our Preferred Future” 
 
November, 2016 
 

Introduction 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish is undertaking a process to develop its first 
corporate plan and is seeking proposals from qualified individuals and organizations to facilitate 
its development.   

Global, national and provincial forces will always have an impact on our community, but by 
developing a strong plan with a strong process & implementation, the Municipality can prepare 
for and have more control over our own future.  

It is vital to our success to choose our preferred future so that we maintain the quality and level 
of service our residents have come to expect, while being responsive to their needs.   

Through this process, the Municipality will identify community needs and consider how best to 
meet these needs.  This plan will articulate the Municipality’s mission, vision, values and 
priorities, and guide planning and operational activities over the next 4-5 years. 

Organizational and Community Profile 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish is a rural municipality located in northeastern 
Nova Scotia.  It is bordered by the Northumberland Strait and St. George’s Bay to the north and 
Guysborough County to the south.  The Town of Antigonish – a separate political jurisdiction – 
is located in the centre of the County.  The Municipality and Town have intertwined 
infrastructure and share and cooperate on a significant number of services.   

The Municipality has a population of approximately 15,500, including peoples and communities 
of First Nations, Acadian, Dutch, Scottish, and African Nova Scotian decent, in addition to a 
growing immigrant population.  Approximately 25% of the population are under the age of 20, 
and 17% are 65 or older.  This make-up contributes to a rich cultural history and a strong sense 
of community.   

The Municipality has a strong reliance on its’ natural resources; agriculture, fisheries and 
forestry feature prominently in the local economy.  These sectors combined with St FX 
University, St. Martha’s Hospital and a strong retail service industry are the main means of 
employment.  Antigonish County is also home to a vibrant artisan community, resulting in a 
multitude of festivals and celebrations. 

Local governance and administration is provided by a warden and council (ten elected officials 
in total; one per district) with management of municipal staff led by the Municipal Clerk 
Treasurer.  The Municipality is responsible for the provision of the following services:  



 

2 Request for Proposals: Corporate Planning Facilitation 

 

 Property taxation and collection, including the collection of levies for water, sewer and 
fire services. 

 Operations of two water utilities serving multiple communities. 

 Sewer services in the communities of Lower South River, Heatherton, St. Andrews, 
Pomquet, Havre Boucher and the Fringe area.   

 Solid waste collection and management including the operation of the Beech Hill 
Transfer Station. 

 Construction and maintenance of all municipal roadways and sidewalks. 

 Recreation, cultural and community programming. 

 Land use planning and development through the Eastern District Planning Commission. 

In 2016/17, the Municipality has approved an operating budget of $13,770,000.  This following 
chart provides insight into the breakdown of expenditures. 

 

Invitation 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish is seeking proposals from qualified individuals and 
organizations to facilitate the development of its first corporate plan.   

  2016-2017 BUDGET 

General Government Services (18.2%) Protective Services (22.9%)

Transportation Services (2.3%) Environmental Health (15.5%)

Public Health & Welfare (2.6%) Recreation & Cultural Services (4.2%)

Environmental Development (3%) Fiscal Services (5.8%)

Heritage Cultural & Services (1.9%) Education(23.6%)



 

3 Request for Proposals: Corporate Planning Facilitation 

 

The Corporate Plan will be Municipal Council’s leadership roadmap for the Municipality.  It will 
identify what we want our community to be and how we are going to get there.  It will guide all 
initiatives to ensure the Municipality is moving closer to achieving its vision.   

This plan will articulate the Municipality’s mission, vision, values and priorities, and guide 
planning and operational activities over the next 4-5 years.  The planning process and final 
product will reflect the needs of our community and the Municipality’s ability to respond to 
those needs in an innovative and sustainable manner.   

When completed, the Corporate Plan will outline the path from why we exist (mission) to what 
we want to become (vision).   

This plan will utilize existing municipal plans including but not limited to the Integrated 
Community Sustainability Plan, Municipal Climate Change Action Plan, each of the four 
municipal planning strategies (each of these plans will be made available), and appropriate local 
and provincial recreation plans. 

Deliverables: 

The successful proponent will demonstrate extensive strategic planning experience, knowledge 
and understanding of local government, an ability to conduct required research, an ability to 
facilitate community engagement and the planning process and create a strategic plan.  The 
plan should be completed in a manner that is suitable for public review.   

Specific deliverables of this project include 

 Completion of an environmental scan – reviewing related or pertinent plans and 
documents; analyzing strengths & weaknesses, identifying best practices; 

 A clear articulation of the Municipality’s corporate mission, vision, values, priorities, and 
goals; 

 Project facilitation including: 

o convening and attending meetings,  

o communicating among participants and partners,  

o coordinating community, employee and Council engagement; 

o assisting discussion and decision making and ensuring that conversations are 
progressive and innovative, and oriented towards choosing our preferred future; 

 Development of a final report for the project, including executive summary, an 
implementation component and an evaluation plan; and, 

 Provision of assistance to municipal staff in developing specific objectives, annual work 
plans and associated metrics. 

Specific emphasis is placed on engagement, implementation, measurement and innovative 
methods or techniques.   



 

4 Request for Proposals: Corporate Planning Facilitation 

 

The successful applicant will work with a steering committee to develop and finalize a project 
plan based on the successful proposal. 

Guidelines for Proposal Format: 

Proposals are to contain the following information. 

 Introduction: A letter of introduction to both the consultant(s) and the nature of the 
proposed approach to the project. 

 Qualifications: Name(s) and qualifications of those involved in project. 

 Experience: Provide an overview of prior work on corporate, strategic or business 
planning (An example of this work would be beneficial though not required). 

 Methodology: A detailed outline of the methods used to provide the deliverables 
described above and associated timelines. 

 Cost: Provide a breakdown of the time to be spent on the project including a breakdown 
of costs per project hour. 

 References: Provide names and contact information for three (3) references include 
work completed that demonstrates the ability to undertake and complete similar 
projects on time and on budget. 

Submission: 

Proposal are due to the Municipality of the County of Antigonish by Friday, November 25, 2016 
at 3:00 pm Atlantic Time.    

Proposals may be submitted in hard copy by delivering three (3) sealed copies clearly marked as 
Corporate Plan - Request for Proposal Response to The Municipality of the County of 
Antigonish, 285 Beech Hill Rd, Beech Hill, Nova Scotia. 

Proposals may be submitted electronically.  They should be clearly labelled as Corporate Plan - 
Request for Proposal Response, and submitted to glenn.horne@antigonishcounty.ns.ca. 

The individual assumes the burden of delivery. 

The Municipality of the County of Antigonish reserves the right to reject any and all of the 
proposals received. 

The proponent may withdraw their proposal at any time prior to the closing time by submitting 
a written letter to Glenn Horne, Municipal Clerk Treasurer.  This written request must be 
received prior to Friday, November 25, 2016, at 4:30pm.3 

Evaluation Criteria 

The successful firm or individual will possess the requisite skills to address the deliverables 
outlined, as well as the facilitative skills to engage with municipal council, staff and the 
community to draw out the valuable knowledge, experience and vision.  

mailto:glenn.horne@antigonishcounty.ns.ca


 

5 Request for Proposals: Corporate Planning Facilitation 

 

Each proposal received will be reviewed and scored based on overall presentation, value and by 
using the following points system. 

Experience & qualifications of primary consultant / team 30% 

Appropriateness of approach and proposed methodology including engagement, 
implementation and measurement 

30% 

Work plan, schedule, cost & level of effort  20% 

Understanding of objectives 10% 

Innovation in approach, methodology or techniques 10% 

 100% 

 

General Terms and Conditions 

Confidentiality 

Material and information provided to the consultant by the Municipality must be kept 
confidential.  This includes reports as well as information collected during facilitated sessions 
and interviews.  All information and documentation are to be treated as confidential and not to 
be released unless permission is granted by the Municipality; unless they are identified as 
public documents. 

Costs incurred by the Proponents 

All costs and expenses incurred in the preparation and submission of a proposal shall be borne 
by the consultant.  There shall be no direct or indirect payment for the preparation of a 
submission or to attend interviews in response to this Request for Proposal. 

Freedom of Information 

All documents, including submissions of proposals to the Municipality, become the property 
and a record of the Municipality; as such are subject to the Nova Scotia’s Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act and the Nova Scotia Municipal Government Act.  By 
submitting a proposal the proponent is agreeing to public disclosure of its contents as required 
under these Acts. 

Any enquiries regarding this Request for Proposal should be directed to: 

Glenn Horne, Municipal Clerk Treasurer 
Municipal Admin Center, 285 Beech Hill Rd, Antigonish, NS. B2G 0B4 
Tel: 902 863 1117  
Email: glenn.horne@antigonishcounty.ns.ca 

mailto:glenn.horne@antigonishcounty.ns.ca

